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Law Office of Edward E. Yates 

20 Skylark Drive, # 12 

Larkspur, CA 94939 

Ph: 415-990-4805  

eyates@marinlandlaw.com 
 

      April 16, 2019 

 

Mary Casey 

General Counsel 

Marin Municipal Water District  

220 Nellen  

Corte Madera, CA 94925 

mcasey@marinwater.org 

Dear Ms. Casey, 

Thank you for your letter of April 3, 2109 regarding the Coalition for Sensible Taxpayers 

(COST) cease and desist letter regarding Marin Municipal Water District’s (“MMWD”) 

compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act.   

Your letter addresses the three alleged violations made by COST.  

1.  Board Members Improperly Speaking at Subcommittees: Government Code 

Section 54952.2(c)(6)   

The first violation regards verbal participation at committee meetings by Board members, who 

are not members of the respective Finance and Communication Subcommittees.  Your letter 

responded:   

In an effort to clarify any confusion as to who is seated for a meeting, going forward all 

meetings of the Board of Directors will be noticed as Board meetings only. 

This is a positive step and COST appreciates that MMWD has agreed to change the dual notice 

procedure going forward.   

However, this commitment does not appear to address the related issue regarding non-

Committee members speaking at Committee meetings.  As I put in my Letter of March 5, 2019, 

Government Code Section 54952.2(c)(6) allows those non-Committee members to attend “only 

as observers.”  Thus, MMWD’s commitment must also state that non-Committee Members may 

attend solely as observers and per the statute, cannot address the committee by testifying, asking 

questions or providing information.  Also, the statement on your agenda notices that one or more 

directors may “participate” should be eliminated or revised.  

2. Discussion Without Notice and Agendizing: Government Code Section 54954.2(a)(2) 
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The second violation concerns discussion of items that were not listed on the agenda and for 

which public notice was not provided.  Your letter responded:  

We believe that sufficient notice was provided under Government Code Sections 54954 

and 54954.2 for this agenda item, as evidenced in part by your client's board member's 

attendance at the meeting. However, going forward we will pay particular attention to the 

description and wording of all our agenda items to ensure their clarity.   

This conclusion is not an unconditional commitment to cease and desist the alleged violation. 

This is because the agenda itself only obliquely referred to a “rate outreach plan update” and 

made no mention of substantive discussion of the Proposition 218 statutory notice, hearing or 

service rate change provisions that occurred at the meetings.  

You claim that because the agenda attachments included certain language and because COST 

member Paul Premo attended one of the subcommittee meetings in question, that MMWD had 

complied with the Brown Act notice and agenda requirements.   You provide no support that 

either condition can somehow cure a faulty agenda item description.   

First, the Brown Act is clear, the description of the item must be “appearing on the posted 

agenda.”  Government Code Section 54954.2(a) (2).   San Joaquin Raptor Rescue Center, is 

instructive. There,  the  court  found  an  agenda  description lacking when it provided the 

planning commission would potentially approve a subdivision application. The agenda failed to 

mention the planning commission would also consider whether to adopt a mitigated negative 

declaration concerning the environmental impact of the project. (San Joaquin Raptor Rescue 

Center v. County of Merced (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 1167,1170,  1176-1177.)  When concluding 

the planning commission violated the Act, the court noted that the CEQA document was "plainly 

a distinct item of business,” and not a mere component of project approval, since it involved a 

separate action or determination   by   the   Commission    

Similarly, in Hernandez v. Town of Apple Valley (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 194, 197, 208-209, the 

court found an agenda insufficient when it described the council would discuss only a "'Walmart 

Initiative Measure' and the direction to be given to staff" but failed to include that the council 

would also adopt a memorandum of understanding authorizing the acceptance of a gift from 

Walmart to pay for the special election to pass the initiative measure discussed.   

The statute and the appellate court decisions require that the item be described on the agenda 

itself and provide no authority for the item description to be on attached staff reports or other 

materials.  Indeed, MMWD often fails to attach agenda staff reports to its online agendas until 

the last minute and often does not even make these materials available to the public at its 

meetings.     

Second, regarding your contention regarding Mr. Premo’s presence, public-notice and agenda 

requirements in the Brown Act do not contain an exception where a member of the public 

attended a non-noticed discussion. (Gov’t Code § 54954.2.)  There is no authority for the 

proposition that Mr. Premo, and other members of the public forfeit their right to demand that 

Brown Act violations cease because any one member of the public attended the non-noticed 
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discussion.  You have presented no evidence of Mr. Premo’s state of mind and it would not be 

relevant as the Brown Act is essentially a strict liability statute.  (See Olson v. Hornbrook Cmty. 

Servs. Dist., Court of Appeal of California, Third Appellate District, March 26, 2019, C084494.)  

Further, Mr. Premo’s presence does not cure the fact that other interested community members 

were not provided adequate notice of discussions regarding Prop 218 Notice service rate change 

positions.  

I would be happy to work with you to form a commitment to comply with the Brown Act’s 

requirements for actually describing the item on the agenda.  For instance, any board or 

committee meeting at which changes to rates or fees are to be discussed should include the words 

“rate” or “fee” in the agenda item on the first page of any agenda.   The agenda could say, for 

example, “Review of budget and consideration of possible need to raise rates and fees.” 

In addition, MMWD should implement the following procedures in order to provide full public 

access and transparency to its Board and Committee meetings.  

A. The most pertinent, detailed information is often provided only in PowerPoint 

presentation materials (rather than staff reports) and has not been made available in hard 

copy during meetings, nor has it been posted on line prior to or after meetings. This was 

the case in the proposition 218 notice process that is the subject of our Brown Act cease 

and desist letter.  MMWD should institute a policy that staff and consultants make every 

effort to post online staff reports, PowerPoint presentations and other key materials along 

with agendas, 72 hours in advance of board and committee meetings.  Such materials 

should also be available to the public in hard copy before the start of such meetings.  

While we recognize the possibility of a last-minute unexpected development making it 

difficult to meet the 72-hour standard, that should happen by exception only.  

 

B. MMWD should agree to videotape all board and committee meetings and make them 

available online within 48 hours.  The cost is minimal.  This is done at all similarly-sized 

Marin agencies and at other mid-sized water districts in California.  Live streaming 

should be considered.  This would also ensure MMWD compliance with the Americans 

with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. § 12101), which I will address in more detail in 

a subsequent letter.  

 

3. Taking Action Without Notice and Agendizing: Government Code Section 

54954.2(a)(2) 

We alleged that MMWD Board Committees violated Government Code Section 54954.2(a)(2) 

by taking action without complying with notice and agenda requirements.  You respond:  

 

Going forward, we will continue to clarify on the agenda exactly what staff  is asking 

from the Board.  For example, if staff seeks direction from the Board, the agenda will 

continue to so state the same.  If staff is recommending Board approval of an item, the 

agenda will continue to so state the approval. 
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My clients appreciate the commitment to state precisely what staff is asking from the Board.   

However, per above number 2, MMWD also needs to describe what exact item the Board is 

providing direction on and/or potentially approving.  

 

 

Conclusion  

 

 

I would be happy to further discuss these issues and look forward to working with you or 

receiving written notice that MMWD will cease and desist the remaining above described Brown 

Act violations.  

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Edward E. Yates 

 

 

 


